
 
 

 

 
 
 
WEDNESDAY, 1 NOVEMBER 2023 
 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
 
I HEREBY SUMMON YOU TO ATTEND A MEETING OF THE 
PLANNING COMMITTEE WHICH WILL BE HELD IN THE CHAMBER, 
COUNTY HALL, CARMARTHEN, SA31 1JP AND REMOTELY AT 
10.00 AM ON THURSDAY, 9TH NOVEMBER, 2023 FOR THE 
TRANSACTION OF THE BUSINESS OUTLINED ON THE ATTACHED 
AGENDA 
 
 

Wendy Walters 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 
 
Democratic Officer: Janine Owen 
Telephone (direct line): 01267 224030 
E-Mail: Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
The meeting can be viewed on the Authority’s website via the following 

link:- https://carmarthenshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 
 

 
Wendy Walters Prif Weithredwr, Chief Executive, 

Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP 
County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP 

 
 
 

Document Pack

https://carmarthenshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE – 21 MEMBERS 

 
 

 
PLAID CYMRU GROUP -  11 Members 

 
1.  Cllr. Tyssul Evans (Chair) 
2.  

 

3.  Cllr. Mansel Charles (Committee Member) 
4.  

 

5.  Cllr. Terry Davies (Committee Member) 
6.  

 

7.  Cllr. Ken Howell (Committee Member) 
8.  

 

9.  Cllr. Carys Jones (Vice-Chair) 
10.  

 

11.  Cllr. Jean Lewis (Committee Member) 
12.  

 

13.  Cllr. Denise Owen (Committee Member) 
14.  

 

15.  Cllr. Dorian Phillips (Committee Member) 
16.  

 

17.  Cllr. Russell Sparks (Committee Member) 
18.  

 

19.  Cllr. Gareth Thomas (Committee Member) 
20.  

 

21.  Cllr. Elwyn Williams (Committee Member) 
22.  

 

 
LABOUR GROUP - 6 Members  
1.  Cllr. Peter Cooper (Committee Member) 
2.  

 

3.  Cllr. Michelle Donoghue (Committee Member) 
4.  

 

5.  Cllr. Anthony Leyshon (Committee Member) 
6.  

 

7.  Cllr. Edward Skinner (Committee Member) 
8.  

 

9.  Cllr. Michael Thomas (Committee Member) 
 
Vacancy 

10.  
 

 
INDEPENDENT  GROUP - 3 Members INDEPENDENT GROUP - 5  Members 
1.  Cllr. Sue Allen (Committee Member) 

Vacancy  x 2 
2.  

 

 
UNAFFILIATED – 1 Member 
1.  Cllr. John Jenkins (Committee Member) 
2.  

 

 
 



 

 
 

A G E N D A   
  

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
2. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTERESTS   
 
3. DETERMINATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS  5 - 30 
 
4. APPEALS REPORT  31 - 38 
 
5. PLANNING SERVICE PERFORMANCE - QUARTER 2  39 - 58 
 
6. TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE 

MEETING HELD ON THE  
 

 
6 .1 26TH SEPTEMBER 2023 59 - 64  
6 .2 12TH OCTOBER 2023 65 - 68  
6 .3 24TH OCTOBER 2023 69 - 72 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin
Carmarthenshire County Council

PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO
PLANNING COMMITTEE

Adroddiad Pennaeth Lle a 
Chynaliadwyedd
Lle a Seilwaith

Report of the Head of Place 
and Sustainability 

Place and Infrastructure

09/11/2023

I’W BENDERFYNU
FOR DECISION

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In relation to those applications which are identified as one in which the Council has an 
interest either as applicant/agent or in terms of land or property ownership, Members 
are reminded that they must set aside this aspect, and confine their consideration and 
determination of such applications exclusively to the merits of the planning issues 
arising.  The Council’s land owning function, or other interests in the matter, must not 
be taken into account when determining such planning applications. 
 

 

 

  

 

Mewn perthynas â cheisiadau y mae gan y Cyngor ddiddordeb ynddynt un ai fel 
ymgeisydd/asiant neu fel perchennog tir neu eiddo, atgoffir yr Aelodau fod yna rhaid 
iddynt anwybyddu’r agwedd hon, gan ystyried ceisiadau o’r fath a phenderfynu yn eu 
cylch ar sail rhinweddau’r ceisiadau cynllunio yn unig. Ni ddylid ystyried swyddogaeth 
y Cyngor fel perchennog tir, na materion cysylltiedig, wrth benderfynu ynghylch 
ceisiadau cynllunio o’r fath. 
 

Page 6



 

 

 
COMMITTEE: 
 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: 
 

 
09.11.2023 

 
REPORT OF: 
 

 
HEAD OF PLACE AND SUSTAINABILITY 

 
 

 
REF. 

 
APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL 

 

 
PAGE 

 
PL/03820 

 

 
Installation of a 30m lattice tower supporting 6 no. 
antennas, 4 no. transmission dishes, 2 no. equipment 
cabinets, 1 no. meter cabinet, 1 container with solar panel 
atop housing Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil generator, battery 
and biofuel tank, 3 free standing solar panel arrays and 
ancillary development thereto including a generator and 
associated fuel tank, a fenced compound, a gabion wall and 
a hard standing area for the Shared Rural Network project 
at Clywedog Plantation, Ffarmers, Llanwrda, SA19 8PX 
 

 
9 

 
PL/06541 

 

 
Change of use of redundant building into one residential 
unit (renewal of planning permission W/38933 dated 15th 
December 2020) at Building at Parc Y Cnwc, Old School 
Road, Llansteffan, Carmarthen, SA33 5HA 
 

 
23 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 

 

 
Application No 
 

 
PL/03820 

 

Application Type Full planning permission 

Proposal 

Installation of a 30m lattice tower supporting 6 no. antennas, 4 no. 
transmission dishes, 2 no. equipment cabinets, 1 no. meter 
cabinet, 1 container with solar panel atop housing Hydrotreated 
Vegetable Oil generator, battery and biofuel tank, 3 free standing 
solar panel arrays and ancillary development thereto including a 
generator and associated fuel tank, a fenced compound, a gabion 
wall and a hard standing area for the Shared Rural Network project 

 
Location 
 

Clywedog Plantation, Ffarmers, Llanwrda, SA19 8PX 

 

Applicant(s) Cornerstone  

Agent Mrs Jennie Hann Clarke Telecom Limited 

Officer Kevin Phillips 

Ward Cilycwm  

 
Date of validation 
 

07/04/2022 

 
Reason for Committee 
 
This application is being reported to the Planning Committee following the receipt of three 
or more objections from third parties.  
 
Site 
 
The application site is a remote rural location to the North of the village of Ffarmers, above 
the head of the river Twrch valley within the North East Uplands Special Landscape Area. 
The site is open heathland known as Llethr Brith, adjacent to the Clywedog tree plantation 
with trees at approximately 20-25 metres in height above the application site and Llyn y 
Gwaith is located approximately 40 metres lower, the other side of the coniferous plantation 
to the Northwest, with no residential properties nearby.  
  

Page 9



 

 

 
Proposal  
 
The proposed development is the installation of a 30m lattice tower supporting 6 no. 
antennas, 4 no. transmission dishes, 2 no. equipment cabinets, 3 no. freestanding solar 
panels, 1 no. meter cabinet and ancillary development thereto including a generator and 
associated fuel tank, a fenced compound, a gabion wall and a hard standing area. The mast 
site will be supported by a track that leads from the Northeast of Llyn y Gwaith through the 
existing coniferous woodland and across approximately 100 metres of heathland. The 
application is a Shared Rural Network project on behalf of Mobile Network Operators, which 
requires a new mast to support all three main operators’ equipment to provide 4G 
geographical coverage for people living, working and travelling in poorly served rural areas. 
This is in line with the Government requirement to ensure geographic coverage from at least 
one operator to 95% of the UK by 2025. It will be a shared structure utilised by 3 main 
telecommunications operators which is fully in line with national and local planning policy 
guidance.  
 
Planning Site History 
 
None 
 
Planning Policy 
 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan (Adopted December 2014) (‘the LDP’)  
  
SP1 Sustainable Places and Spaces                               
SP13 Protection and Enhancement of the Built and Historic Environment 
SP14 Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment 
SP17 Infrastructure 
Policy GP1 Sustainability and High Quality Design 
Policy EQ6 Special Landscape Areas 
  
National Planning Policy and Guidance is provided in Future Wales: The National Plan 2040, 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 11, February 2021 and associated Technical Advice 
Notes (TANs) published by Welsh Government. 
 
Summary of Consultation Responses 
 
Head of Public Health & Protection - No adverse comments made on the application. 
  
Local Member(s) - Councillor A Davies has not commented to date on the application. 
  
Cynwyl Gaeo Community Council - No comments received to date. 
  
Head of Transport - It is noted that the route to the site is expected to be via the Ceredigion 
highway network, we recommend consulting with Ceredigion County Council highways to 
seek their opinions on the proposals.  
 
No other observations 
 

Page 10

http://www.cartogold.co.uk/CarmarthenshireLDP/english/text/00_Contents.htm
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-11_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes


 

 

Ceredigion County Council (Highways and Environmental Services) - Any permission 
which the Planning Authority may give shall include the Condition(s) detailed below. 
  
1. Prior to the commencement of construction activities on site, a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan (CTMP) shall be agreed with the Local Planning Authority in consultation 
with the Local Highway Authority in respect of loading/unloading of construction materials 
and the management of construction traffic through the duration of the works. 
  
Reason: In the interest of road safety and the free flow of traffic. 
  
INFORMATIVES: In addition to the above, the applicant should also be made aware of the 
following – 
 
Any requirements to sweep and or clean the local road network as a result of the proposal, 
shall be at the developer’s expense. 
 
Any large vehicles, abnormal loads, etc. associated with the proposal using the local road 
network shall notify Local Highway Authority Street Works Department and avoid peak 
times, embargoes, etc. 
 
Any temporary signage erected on the local road network to be agreed with the Local 
Highway Authority Traffic Management & Strategy Section, in advance of the works. 
  
Llanddewi Brefi Community Council - Members of the public addressed the meeting and 
raised concerns regarding the need for the proposed installation in consideration of its 
landscape setting, and the context of high-speed broadband provision in the area delivering 
internet-based call services. 
  
The Council discussed the proposed coverage plots (see attached comparison of existing 
and proposed provision) and noted that the area of benefit seemed disproportionately small 
in relation to the negative impacts of the development on the North Eastern Uplands Special 
Landscape Area, in contravention of LDP policy. 
  
All members agreed that this view should be forwarded to the planning authority in response 
to the consultation.                                                                           
  
Llangeithio Community Council - No comments received.  
  
Dyfed Archaeological Trust - An archaeological desk-based assessment of the potential 
impacts of the development on the historic environment, both directly on archaeological 
deposits and on the setting of historic assets has been requested. Re-consultation of DAT 
has been undertaken and further comments are awaited. 
  
Natural Resources Wales - A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) 
condition is required to be added to any permission granted for this development. 
  
NRW have been consulted by CCC Planning ecology in relation to an Appropriate 
Assessment under Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 for this planning application and NRW agree with your Authority’s conclusion on the 
assessment. 
  

Page 11



 

 

Cadw - Having carefully considered the information provided, we have no objection to the 
proposed development in regards to the scheduled monument shown in our assessment of 
the application below.  
  
 
 
Assessment  
A Heritage Impact Assessment prepared by Allen Archaeology has been submitted in 
support of this application. This work identifies that the proposed mast will be visible from 
the scheduled monuments but as it will be seen above the existing forest plantations that 
surround it and the visual change will not alter the way that they are understood, experienced 
and appreciated. Consequently, the proposed mast will not have any adverse impact on the 
settings of the scheduled monument. The conclusion therein is concurred. 
  
Civil Aviation Authority - No comments received. 
 
MOD Safeguarding - The application site occupies the UK Military Low flying System 
designated Tactical Training Area (TTA 7T), an area within which fixed wing aircraft may 
operate as low as 100 feet or 30.5 metres above ground level to conduct low level flight 
training. The development proposed will cause a potential obstruction hazard to these 
military low flying training activities.  
  
To address this impact, and given the location and scale of the development, the MOD 
require that conditions are added to any consent issued requiring that the development is 
fitted with aviation safety lighting, and that sufficient data is submitted to ensure that 
structures can be accurately charted to allow deconfliction. Suggested condition wordings 
are set out below;  
  
As a minimum the MOD would require that the mast that forms the subject of this application 
is fitted with aviation safety lighting which produces 25cd visible or Infra-Red (IR) lighting.  
  
Cranes  
 
The MOD recognises that cranes may be used during the construction of this development. 
These may affect air traffic safety. If the redevelopment of this site does progress the 
developer is advised that in the event that the construction of the extension hereby approved 
is to be undertaken using a crane that exceeds a height of 15.2m above ground level to the 
tip of any jib or other point, then the details of the dates that the crane is to be present at 
site, its specific location within the site, and the specific timing that it is to be extended above 
that height are to be provided via DIO-safeguarding-statutory@mod.gov.uk no less than 28 
days before its arrival at site.  
  
Reason  
 
No cranes that are capable of extending to a height in excess of 15.2m shall be utilised in 
the construction of the development unless it is in accordance with the specified details to 
ensure that appropriate safeguards can be introduced to minimise the potential for the 
construction of the development to have a harmful impact on air safety in the surrounding 
area, in particular within the Tactical Training Area Mid Wales.  
To summarise, I can confirm that, subject to the conditions detailed above being attached 
to any consent issued, the MOD has no objection to the proposed development.  
  

Page 12



 

 

Whilst we have no statutory safeguarding objections to this application, the height of the 
development will necessitate that aeronautical charts and mapping records are amended. 
DIO Safeguarding therefore requests that, as a condition of any planning permission 
granted, the developer must notify UK DVOF & Powerlines at the Defence Geographic 
Centre with the following information prior to development commencing:  
 
a. Precise location of development.  
b. Date of commencement of construction.  
c. Date of completion of construction.  
d. The height above ground level of the tallest structure.  
e. The maximum extension height of any construction equipment.  
f. Details of aviation warning lighting fitted to the structure(s)  

The MOD must emphasise that the advice provided within this letter is in response to 
the submitted data and information. Any variation of the parameters (which include the 
location, dimensions, form, and finishing materials) detailed may significantly alter how 
the development relates to MOD safeguarding requirements and cause adverse impacts 
to safeguarded defence assets or capabilities. In the event that any amendment, 
whether considered material or not by the determining authority, is submitted for 
approval, the MOD should be consulted and provided with adequate time to carry out 
assessments and provide a formal response. 

Arqiva Consulting - Arqiva is responsible for providing the BBC, ITV and the majority of 
the UK's radio transmission network and is responsible for ensuring the integrity of Re-
Broadcast Links.  
  
Tall infrastructure such as wind turbines and other tall structures have the potential to block 
radio transmission links and rebroadcasting links (through direct blocking of radio signal or 
deflecting signal). Our radio transmission networks normally operate with a 100m buffer 
either side of a radio link, free from interference by tall development.  
We have considered whether this development is likely to have an adverse effect on our 
operations and have concluded that in their proposed location, we have no objections to this 
development. 
 
Cable & Wireless - Vodafone: Fixed does not have apparatus within the vicinity of your 
proposed works detailed below. 
 
CSS Spectrum Man Services - No comments received.  
 
Joint Radio Company - No Objection to the proposal.  
 
OFCOM (Spectrum Licencing) – No comments received. 
 
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 
Summary of Public Representations 
 
The application was the subject of notification by way of a site notice and 67 representations 
were received objecting, and the matters raised are summarised as follows:- 
  
• The proposed mast, antennae and supporting equipment will significantly damage the 

quality of the Special landscape area. 

Page 13

http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp


 

 

• The site notice erected on a street pole along the highway has not been satisfactory 
mode of publicising the application. 

• There is appropriate signal for mobile phones and superfast fibre broadband in the 
locality and the proposed development is not required. 

• The trees around the application site should be preserved to ensure screening and 
mitigation for the proposal. 

• The implications of the radio frequency electromagnetic waves will impact people and 
the wildlife health in the locality. 

• The proposed development will impact the historic remains of the Carns in the locality. 
• The proposal is not required in the locality and goes against the goals of the Well Being 

and Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
• The discounted alternative sites have not been proper consideration. 
• Concern from the oil contamination from the fuel stored for the generator at the site. 
• The proposal will unacceptably impact upon the geology in the locality. 
• The proposal will impact upon the tourism draw to the locality. 
• The proposal will introduce unnecessary noise pollution in the locality, impacting 

residents and wildlife. 
 
2 representations of support have been received and the grounds of support are as follows; 
  
• The proposal will have significant benefits for ensuring rural communities, business 

owners and tourists for easily access good mobile data services. 
 
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 
Appraisal 
 
Principle of Development 
  
Base stations use radio signals to connect mobile devices and phones to the network, 
enabling people to send and receive calls, texts, emails, pictures, web, TV and downloads. 
To keep up with growing demand from mobile phone users there is a need to build a new 
base station to serve the needs of this rural area, and in some parts there is inadequate 
coverage. In this situation there is a requirement to develop a new base station that will 
improve the network coverage, resulting in improved network experiences for local 
residents, visitors, businesses etc. The proposal is part of the Government backed scheme 
called Shared Rural Network (SRN), a collaboration between Mobile Network Operators 
(MNO’s) and the Government to improve 4G coverage for people living, working, and 
travelling in poorly served rural areas. 
 
Planning Policy Wales: Technical Advice Note 19 (TAN19) 'Telecommunications' (August 
2002). Technical Advice Note (Wales) 19 provides guidance to Welsh Authorities on dealing 
with applications for telecommunications and is a material consideration in determining 
planning applications. The guidance provides useful advice for local authorities with regards 
to the issue of constraints faced by operators over the location of equipment 
  
'In some cases, local planning authorities may conclude that planning permission ought to 
be refused because of siting or appearance considerations. But they should first seek to 
understand the constraints the operator faces, whether due to the nature of the technology 
or the legal requirement to provide a service'. 
  

Page 14

http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp


 

 

Authorities are advised in TAN 19 to respond positively to proposals for telecommunications 
development and to understand the associated special problems and technical 
requirements faced by operators. That advice and the permitted development rights 
maintained to facilitate the establishment of networks apply even in locations usually subject 
to policies of restraint. Against this background of encouragement, TAN 19 also recognises 
the need, now with greater emphasis, to strike an appropriate balance between operational 
and environmental considerations. 
  
The Stewart Group's report suggested a number of specific precautionary actions that have 
been accepted by the Welsh Government. The Report does not provide any basis for 
precautionary actions beyond those already proposed. In the Welsh Government’s view, 
local planning authorities should not implement their own precautionary policies, such as 
imposing a ban or moratorium on new telecommunications development or insisting on 
minimum distances between new telecommunications development and existing 
development. Para 80 of TAN 19 states that the Stewart Report considered that the 
possibility of harm couldn't be ruled out with confidence and those gaps in knowledge are 
sufficient to justify a precautionary approach. The Report recommended a precautionary 
approach comprising a series of specific measures, which has been accepted by Welsh 
Government. 
  
These include:- 
  
• the emissions from the masts should meet the ICNIRP Guidelines for Public Exposure; 
• in relation to the macrocell base stations the beams of greatest intensity should not fall 

on any part of a school ground or buildings without agreement from the school or 
parents. 

 
In respect of the above two issues the proposal meets the ICNIRP Guidelines and a 
Declaration of Conformity with ICNIRP Public Exposure Guidelines was submitted with the 
application and the site is a remote location and there are not considered to be any health 
concerns for any local residents or visitors. However, it is necessary to balance the above 
with the developments impact upon the character and appearance of the area, built heritage 
assets, highway considerations and ecological issues.  
  
Impact upon Character and Appearance of the Special Landscape Area 
  
The application site is elevated above the head of the river Twrch valley and the site is 
adjacent to a maturing coniferous woodland within the North East Uplands Special 
Landscape area and therefore policy EQ6 of the LDP is relevant.  
 
The impact of the mast in this setting is a principal issue in the determination of the proposal 
and has been the subject of scrutiny by the Authority’s Landscape Officer who has 
concluded that the mast will not have a significant impact upon the quality of the landscape.  
 
In particular, the specific location of the mast, to the northwest of a localised ridge line, is 
such that ground level apparatus will not be visible from any formal public rights of way, 
highways, or residential properties. It is acknowledged that the site is located on open 
access land, however a site visit revealed minimal evidence of use. The upper sections of 
the mast including the antennae and mounted apparatus would be visible in long distance 
views above the immediate topography. It is acknowledged that the proposed development 
would constitute an incongruous man-made element within the landscape, however, it is 
advised that the scale of the views across the landscape are such that the intervention and 

Page 15



 

 

relative scale of the proposed development would not result in significant adverse impacts 
to the visual and landscape character of the wider area sufficient to challenge relevant policy 
objectives. The sense of exposure and emptiness will not be subject to significant adverse 
impacts.  
  
The site’s location adjacent to an existing coniferous woodland assist in terms of screening 
the proposed mast and views of the mast from a public perspective will be from a distance. 
From the elevated siting of the mast and the wooded nature of the landscape around the 
application site, it is considered that the prominence of the proposed development will not 
be as significant in the landscape and harmful to its quality. However, it is advised that 
potential future felling of the forestry to the northwest of the site location would result in 
increased visibility of the mast structure in views to the northwest, however the nature of the 
landscape and scale of views are such that it is not expected that significant adverse impacts 
would result.  
 
It is not considered that the proposal would result in significant adverse impacts to the 
landscape and visual character of the designated landscape, or to the amenity of 
recreational users of the landscape and residential properties to an extent to challenge 
relevant policy objectives.  
  
Impact upon built heritage 
 
In terms of impacts upon built heritage assets, the nearest listed building to the site is the 
Tower at Tyn y Corn, Saron (Grade II – Cadw Ref. 16268) which is 1500m approximately 
from the site, one further listed building Ty Newydd, Saron (Grade II – Cadw Ref. 16267) 
1500m further away again. The proposed development would not affect the setting of Tyn y 
Corn, or Ty Newydd directly, and as such would be acceptable in terms of listed building 
legislation.  
  
Ecological Impacts 
 
Turning to ecological matters, the initial Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) submitted 
was unsatisfactory. A revised PEA has been supported, and following an Appropriate 
Assessment submitted to NRW, the application is supported subject to a CEMP condition 
and adherence to the recommendations within the PEA.  
  
Response to Third Party comments 
  
The proposed mast, antennae and supporting equipment will significantly damage 
the quality of the Special Landscape area. 
  
It is acknowledged that the proposal is in a sensitive location within the Northeast Uplands 
Special Landscape area and the telecommunications mast will be visible from the public 
highway from a distance. However, it is considered that the proposed mast, adjacent to the 
coniferous woodland, at a location away from the brow of the heathland will only have the 
upper section of the mast being visible from various directions. The comments of the 
Authority’s Landscape Officer above are further relayed to strengthen the view that it is not 
considered that the telecommunications mast will not unacceptably harm the landscape 
quality of the area.  
  
The site has been carefully chosen set against the backdrop of trees which rise to some 
25m in height in a woodland setting. The significant distance to the nearest road together 

Page 16



 

 

with the undulating topography in the area ensures that this site will not be overly prominent 
in the landscape. 
  
As the structure needs to support the weight and equipment of three operators it needs to 
be sufficiently strong. Given the required height of 30m to provide the necessary coverage 
to the target coverage area for all three operators, the most feasible design is a lattice tower. 
This type of design has relatively thin supporting struts and therefore allows light to pass 
through it, reducing its visibility in this rural landscape. This is in line with the Code of Best 
Practice. It will also fully meet the national Governments aim of supporting the roll-out of 
digital communications infrastructure across Wales.  
  
The site notice erected on a street pole along the highway has not been satisfactory 
mode of publicising the application.  
  
The application has been publicised through a site notice in accordance with statutory 
requirements and there has been consultation of Local Councillor and Community Councils, 
including a number of statutory consultees and all the comments raised for and against the 
proposal have been considered in coming to a balanced decision on this application. 
  
There is appropriate signal for mobile phones and superfast fibre broadband in the 
locality and the proposed development is not required. 
  
For the rural communities in the locality and businesses, the benefits of a 4G network is 
much more than just being able to use a mobile phone, this enhanced connectivity offers an 
alternative solution to access better broadband, provides a lifeline to emergency services in 
the most remote areas and supports businesses to innovate and adopt new technology. 
  
The proposed scheme is part of the Shared Rural Network (SRN) project, which is a UK 
Government backed scheme where the operators have agreed to provide 95% geographical 
mobile coverage by 2025. This application is part of this project to fill this hole in coverage 
so that everyone has access to a mobile service wherever they may be whether that be 
indoors or outside.   
  
An extract from the mastdata.com website included in the application indicates that there 
are sites in the surrounding area but not in the middle where there is a hole in area’s service 
provision. This hole is what is required to be filled in line with the Government’s requirements 
to provide 95% geographical coverage which means in simple terms the majority of the UK, 
as depicted in the coverage plots.  
  
The trees around the application site should be preserved to ensure screening and 
mitigation for the proposal. 
  
There is an existing mature woodland to the Noth-Northwest and relatively recent planted 
coniferous woodland site to the East-Southeast and this woodland will remain as a screen 
for any distant views from the public highway from those direction for a significant period of 
time. The topography of the location and siting in the landscape is such that the mast will be 
primarily visibly form a public perspective from distance and the top section of the mast will 
only be visible. The proposed height requirement is a by-product of the terrain, the need to 
provide a clear line of sight for transmission and for the antennas to reach the target 
coverage areas.  
 

Page 17



 

 

The implications of the radio frequency electromagnetic waves will impact people and 
the wildlife health in the locality. 
  
Following the expertise consultation of the Authority’s Public Protection and Planning 
Ecology section, the above-mentioned issue was not raised as a matter of objection to the 
application and therefore it is not considered that radio frequency electromagnetic waves 
will impact people and the wildlife health are grounds to refuse the application. 
   
The proposed development will impact the historic remains of the Carns in the 
locality. 
  
Cadw have been consulted on the application and following the submission of a Heritage 
Impact Assessment, this work identifies that the proposed mast will be visible from the 
scheduled monuments but as it will be seen above the existing forest plantations that 
surround it and the visual change will not alter the way that they are understood, experienced 
and appreciated. Consequently, the proposed mast will not have any adverse impact on the 
settings of the scheduled monument.  
  
The proposal is not required in the locality and goes against the goals of the Well 
Being and Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
  
The decision to support the application considers the duty to improve the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 (the WBFG Act). The decision takes into account the ways of working set out at section 
5 of the WBFG Act and it is considered that this decision is in accordance with the 
sustainable development principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh 
Ministers’ well-being objectives set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
  
The discounted alternative sites have not been properly considered. 
  
The application has included an acceptable consideration that other sites do not satisfy its 
technical requirements and that this site is the most appropriate site to serve the 
telecommunications coverage for the locality and therefore remains that the Authority is to 
consider the acceptability of the proposal submitted. 
  
Site selection was progressed in accordance with the applicant’s licence obligations, advice 
in the revised PPW11 and the Code of Best Practice and represents the least 
environmentally intrusive, technically suitable, available option.  
 
Concern from the oil contamination from the fuel stored for the generator at the site. 
  
The approval is subject to a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) 
condition that requires details to be submitted in relation to the operations at the site during 
construction that this is then be able to control the methods of construction, delivery and 
storage to ensure that there will not be environmental issues arising therein. 
  
The proposal will unacceptably impact upon the geology in the locality. 
  
The development will involve the removal of soil for the telecommunications mast compound 
and the track that leads to the compound from the existing coniferous woodland, however 
the geology below will not be significantly impacted by proposed development.  

Page 18



 

 

  
The proposal will impact upon the tourism draw to the locality. 
  
It is not considered that the proposal will deter any tourism draw to the locality and will 
enhance the telecommunications benefits encountered in the locality. 
  
 
The proposal will introduce unnecessary noise pollution in the locality, impacting 
residents and wildlife. 
  
The Authority has consulted the Public Protection section - Noise and no objection has been 
received. The application site is distant from any residential properties in the locality and the 
temporary construction noise will not have any significant impact upon the residents living 
conditions and as the application has solar panel power and a back generator, it remains 
that it is considered that there will not be any significant noise impact for residents in the 
locality. 
  
Planning Obligations 
 
None 
 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
The decision considers the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under 
section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG Act). The 
decision takes into account the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act and it 
is considered that this decision is in accordance with the sustainable development principle 
through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives 
set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
Conclusion 
 
After careful consideration of the scheme as submitted it is concluded on balance that the 
proposed tower telecommunications mast and supporting equipment will not result in 
significant harm to the landscape. In terms of design the detailed drawings of the proposed 
mast along with the supplementary information submitted within the application indicate that 
the mast is of a lattice mast construction, painted green and set well within the landscape, 
with significant tree screening and provides the best option possible.  
  
National Planning Guidance in the form of Planning Policy Wales and TAN19 sets out to 
facilitate the growth of new and existing telecommunications systems. It is considered that 
the supporting evidence submitted with the application demonstrates the technical need for 
the proposed installation, and whilst the siting and design of the proposed mast ensures that 
environmental impact is kept at a minimum, it remains that it will have a limited impact upon 
the landscape quality in the locality. 
  
After detailed assessment and careful examination of the proposal as submitted in relation 
to its surrounding environs, planning policy, the representations received to date and all 
other relevant matters, it is considered that, on balance, the proposal at this location accords 
with both local and national planning policy, being sited and designed to have as little 

Page 19



 

 

potential environmental impact as possible to the landscape, whilst being able to provide 
the infrastructure required for the improved communications for the emergency services and 
private telecommunication coverage. Therefore, on balance the application is supported, 
and a recommendation of approval is made. 
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION - Approval 
 
 
Conditions & Reasons 
 
Condition 1 
  
The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission. 
  
Reason:   
Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
  
Condition 2 
  
The development relates to the following plans and documents and works shall be carried 
out in accordance with them unless amended by any conditions below:- 
 
• Location Plan (100-Rev C), received 21 October 2022 
• Detailed Site Location Plan (101-Rev E), received 21 October 2022 
• Proposed Site Plan (201-Rev D), received 21 October 2022 
• Proposed Northeast Elevation Plan (301-Rev D), received 21 October 2022 
• Proposed Southwest Elevation Plan (302-Rev A), received 21 October 2022 
• Proposed Northwest Elevation Plan (303-Rev A), received 21 October 2022 
• Proposed Southwest Elevations Plan (304-Rev A), received 21 October 2022 
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal -The Ecology Practice, received 5 December 2022 
 
Reason:   
For the avoidance of doubt as to the extent of the permission hereby granted and to secure 
an acceptable development in accordance with Policy GP1 of the Carmarthenshire Local 
Development Plan 2014.  
 
Condition 3 
  
No development shall commence until a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
CEMP shall include:  
 
• Construction methods including details of materials, waste, contaminated land  
• General Site Management: construction programme, site clearance requirements, 

construction drainage, site set-up plan detailing sensitive receptors and buffer zones, 
relevant protection measures e.g., fencing, etc.  

• Biodiversity Management: tree and hedgerow protection, invasive species 
management, species / habitats protection and mitigation measures.  

Page 20



 

 

• CEMP masterplan: detailing the development, location of landscape and environmental 
resources, design proposals and objectives for integration and mitigation.  

• Control of Nuisances: restrictions on timing / duration / frequency of works, e.g., noise / 
vibration from piling activities, acoustic barriers, dust control measures, control of light 
spill and conservation of dark skies.  

• Resource Management: fuel and chemical storage, waste management, water 
consumption, energy consumption.  

• Traffic Management: deliveries, plant on site, wheel wash facilities.  
• Pollution Prevention: demonstrate compliance with relevant Guidelines for Pollution 

Prevention, incident response plan, site drainage plan.  
• Landscape/ecological clerk of works to ensure construction compliance with approved 

plans and environmental regulations.  
• Details of the persons/bodies responsible for particular activities associated with the 

CEMP and emergency contact details.  
 
The CEMP shall be implemented as approved during the site preparation and construction 
phases of the development.  
  
Reason: 
A CEMP should be submitted to ensure necessary management measures are agreed prior 
to commencement of development or phase of development and implemented for the 
protection of the environment during construction. 
  
Condition 4 
  
Prior to the commencement of construction activities on site, a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan (CTMP) shall be agreed with the Local Planning Authority in consultation 
with the Local Highway Authority in respect of loading/unloading of construction materials 
and the management of construction traffic through the duration of the works. The 
development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details. 
  
Reason: 
In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Policies GP1 and TR3 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2014. 
  
Condition 5 
  
The telecommunications mast hereby approved shall be fitted with aviation safety lighting 
which produces 25cd visible or Infra-Red (IR) lighting and shall be retained as such in 
perpetuity.  
  
Reason: 
In the interest of air traffic safety. 
  
Condition 6 
  
If any cranes used during the construction of the approved development exceeds a height 
of 15.2m above ground level to the tip of any jib or other point, then the details of the dates 
that the crane is to be present at site, its specific location within the site, and the specific 
timing that it is to be extended above that height are to be provided via DIO-safeguarding-
statutory@mod.gov.uk , no less than 28 days before its arrival at site. 
  

Page 21

mailto:DIO-safeguarding-statutory@mod.gov.uk
mailto:DIO-safeguarding-statutory@mod.gov.uk


 

 

Reason: 
In the interest of air traffic safety. 
 
 
 
 
Notes / Informatives 
 
Note 1 
  
Please note that this permission is specific to the plans and particulars approved as part of 
the application. Any departure from the approved plans will constitute unauthorised 
development and may be liable to enforcement action. You (or any subsequent developer) 
should advise the Council of any actual or proposed variations from the approved plans 
immediately so that you can be advised how to best resolve the matter. 
  
In addition, any conditions which the Council has imposed on this permission will be listed 
above and should be read carefully. It is your (or any subsequent developers’) responsibility 
to ensure that the terms of all conditions are met in full at the appropriate time (as outlined 
in the specific condition). 
  
The commencement of development without firstly meeting in full the terms of any 
conditions which require the submission of details prior to commencement of development 
will constitute unauthorised development. This will necessitate the submission of a further 
application to retain the unauthorised development and may render you liable to formal 
enforcement action. 
  
Failure on the part of the developer to observe the requirements of any conditions could 
result in the Council pursuing formal enforcement action in the form of a Breach of Condition 
Notice. 
  
Note 2 
  
Comments and guidance received from consultees relating to this application, including any 
other permissions or consents required, is available on the Authority’s website 
(www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk). The developer's attention is particularly draw to the 
comments received from the Ministry of Defence department and the advice contained 
therein.  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/


 

 

 

 

 

 
Application No 
 

 
PL/06541 

 

Application Type Full planning permission 

Proposal 
Change of use of redundant building into one residential unit 
(renewal of planning permission W/38933 dated 15th December 
2020) 

 
Location 
 

Building at Parc Y Cnwc, Old School Road, Llansteffan, 
Carmarthen, SA33 5HA 

 

Applicant(s) BA Walker Evans & D Roberts 

Officer Charlotte Greves 

Ward St Clears and Llansteffan 

 
Date of validation 
 

12/09/2023 

 
Reason for Committee 
 
This application is being reported to the Planning Committee on the basis that the applicant 
is an employee of the Development Management service. 
 
Site 
 
The application site consists of a detached barn and part of the curtilage of an adjacent farm 
house located on Old School Road on the outskirts of Llansteffan. The barn forms part of 
the farmstead of Parcnwc Farm being located adjacent to and perpendicular to the main 
farm house. It fronts on to the court yard and parking area of the farmhouse with the 
farmstead being set at a higher level than the road. 
 
The main barn is of a two storey design being rectangular in shape and has a single storey 
lean-to structure on its western side. Its elevations consist of a mix of stonework, facing brick 
and a rendered finish while the roof is clad in natural slate. The front of the barn is 
characterised by a large central door opening that is flanked on either side by small 
symmetrically arranged window openings.  
 
There is a hardstanding to the side of the building and a large lawned area to the rear. The 
front courtyard consists of a gravelled parking area that currently serves the main farm 

Page 23



 

 

house. The farmstead includes an additional smaller barn structure located to the south of 
the house and on the opposite side of the courtyard to the application building. There are 
also a number of further agricultural buildings to the rear of the house which serve the wider 
holding. The two barns and farmhouse are served by a single access located to the front of 
the courtyard that is flanked by walling and hedgerows. 
 
The site is located some 70 metres to the north of the development limits of Llansteffan with 
the surrounding area being of a rural character and appearance. The centre of the village is 
some 500 metres to the south of the site. 
 
Proposal  
 
The application seeks the renewal of a full planning permission for the change of use and 
conversion of the barn to a residential dwelling that was originally granted in 2020.  
 
The proposal will provide three bedroom accommodation set over both floors of the building. 
The lean-to roof of the single storey structure is to be replaced by a new pitched roof to 
match that of the main barn while the proposal will also include the insertion a number of 
small eaves dormer structures in the rear roof of the barn to provide additional headroom 
and natural light to the new first floor bedroom accommodation. The scheme also includes 
the addition of a small lean-to extension to the rear elevation of the building that will provide 
additional utility room accommodation. 
 
The converted building will consist of a mix of rendered and stonework elevations while the 
natural slate roof finish will be retained as part of the proposal. The existing door and window 
openings of the barn are to be retained as part of the proposal with new openings provided 
on its gable ends to, again, improve the level of natural daylight in the converted building. 
 
Vehicular access to the converted building will be achieved via the existing access to the 
courtyard which is to be improved as part of the proposal to provide additional visibility along 
the roadway. Provision is made for three parking spaces to the front of the building as well 
as a generous amenity area to the rear.  
 
The application has been accompanied by a structural survey which confirms that the 
building is structurally sound while a bat survey report has also been provided which found 
no evidence of bats in the building. As established by the previous planning permission, 
marketing details were provided which confirmed that the building has previously been 
marketed for commercial and community uses over a two year period. 
 
Planning Site History 
 
W/38933 - Change of use of redundant outbuilding into one residential unit - Full Granted - 
15/12/2020 
 
W/39875 - Discharge of condition 8 on w/38027 (change of use of existing barn into holiday 
let accommodation) proposed elevations with ecological mitigation. Location of bat boxes - 
Discharge of Planning Condition Granted - 07/01/2020 
 
W/38027 - Change of use of existing barn into holiday let accommodation - Full Granted - 
13/12/2018 
 
D4/2587 - Extension to dairy for milk storage tank - Historic Decision - 12/08/1976 

Page 24



 

 

 
 
Planning Policy 
 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan (Adopted December 2014) (‘the LDP’) 
 
Policy SP1 Sustainable Places and Spaces 
Policy SP5 Housing 
Policy GP1 Sustainability and High Quality Design 
Policy H5 Adaptation and Re-use of Rural Buildings for Residential Use 
Policy AH1 Affordable Housing 
Policy TR3 Highways in Developments – Design Considerations 
Policy EQ4 Biodiversity  
 
Carmarthenshire Supplementary Planning Guidance  
 
National Planning Policy and Guidance is provided in Future Wales: The National Plan 2040, 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 11, February 2021 and associated Technical Advice 
Notes (TANs) published by Welsh Government. 
 
Summary of Consultation Responses 
 
Llansteffan and Llanybri Community Council – No objection.  
 
Local Member – County Councillor Carys Jones is local member and Vice Chair of the 
Planning Committee and has made no prior comment on the application. 
 
Head of Transport – No objection. 
 
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 
Summary of Public Representations 
 
The application was the subject of notification by way of the posting of a site notice to the 
front of the site. As a result, no third party representations have been received to date. 
 
Appraisal 
 
This application as referred to above is a renewal of a previous permission for the same 
development. The application is supported by updated information and the planning policy 
considerations remain the same as when the application was previously considered. In 
particular, Policy H5 of the LDP permits the re-use of rural buildings for residential use 
subject to a number of qualifying criteria. These include the need for the applicant to make 
every reasonable endeavour to secure an alternative business use while the building should 
be structurally sound and capable of conversion without extensive alteration. The building 
must also retain sufficient quality of architectural features and traditional materials and 
proposals should not unacceptably harm the character and integrity of the original structure. 
 
The proposal is in accord with the objectives of the abovementioned policy in that it will re-
use an existing barn which is of a traditional character and appearance and the building has 
been shown to be structurally sound and capable of conversion without significant alteration 

Page 25

http://www.cartogold.co.uk/CarmarthenshireLDP/english/text/00_Contents.htm
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-guidance-spg
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-11_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes
http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp


 

 

or reconstruction work. The design of the scheme is sensitive to the appearance of the 
existing building in retaining existing fenestration and original features. Moreover, the 
alterations to the roof of the building and addition of the small rear lean-to extension will 
complement its overall appearance in the surrounding rural area. The applicant has also 
previously endeavoured to secure an alternative business use for the building by marketing 
it for such purposes over an 18 month period with no substantive interest having been 
received during the marketing period. 
 
In addition, the proposal will provide a beneficial residential use for a vacant and underused 
agricultural building while being located in a sustainable location that is within walking 
distance of the services and facilities within Llansteffan. There are no highway or ecological 
objections to the proposal and it will cause no unacceptable material harm to the character 
and appearance of the surrounding rural area, or amenity of adjacent land uses and 
occupiers.  
 
Planning Obligations 
 
The recommendation to approve the application is subject to the applicant submitting a 
unilateral undertaking securing an affordable housing contribution in accordance with 
requirements of Policy AH1 of the LDP, or alternatively demonstrating to the Council’s 
satisfaction that such a contribution would make the scheme unviable. 
 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
The decision considers the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under 
section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG Act). The 
decision takes into account the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act and it 
is considered that this decision is in accordance with the sustainable development principle 
through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives 
set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
Conclusion 
 
After careful consideration of the scheme as submitted it is concluded on balance and for 
the reasons set out above that the proposed development accords with the relevant planning 
policies. The proposal is a renewal of a previous permission and it is not considered that 
there has been a material change in circumstances. The recommendation is therefore one 
of approval subject to the below conditions and the applicant entering into and completing a 
legal agreement to secure financial contribution towards affordable housing. 
 
In the event that the required legal agreement is not completed within 12 months from the 
date of the Planning Committee resolution, delegated authority is to be given to the Head of 
Place & Sustainability to refuse the application. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION - Approval 
 
 
Conditions & Reasons 
 
Condition 1 
 
The development hereby approved shall be commenced before the expiration of two years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason:  
Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
Condition 2 
 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 
documents: 
 
• Location and Block Plan (LP-01/C)  
• Proposed Floor and Elevations  
• Structural Appraisal  
• Bat Survey by I& G Consulting (v1)  
 
received 5th September 2023 
 
Reason:  
For the avoidance of doubt as to the extent of the permission hereby granted and to secure 
an acceptable development in accordance with Policy GP1 of the Carmarthenshire Local 
Development Plan 2014.  
 
Condition 3 
 
Prior to the commencement of the development a scheme of bat enhancement measures 
based upon the recommendations contained in the sections 4.2, 5.1 and Appendix 5 of the 
bat survey report prepared by I & G Ecological Consulting received on 5th September 2023 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
development shall be implemented strictly in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  
In the interest of biodiversity and to accord with Policy GP 1 and EQ 4 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2014.  
 
Condition 4 
 
Prior to any use of the access by vehicular traffic, a visibility splay of 2.0 metres x 25 metres 
shall be formed and thereafter retained in perpetuity, either side of the centre line of the 
access in relation to the nearer edge of carriageway. In particular there shall at no time be 
any obstruction above 0.9 metres within this splay area.  
 

Page 27



 

 

 
 
Reason:  
In the interest of highway safety and to accord with Policy GP 1 and TR 3 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2014.  
 
Condition 5 
 
The access, visibility splays and turning area required, shall be wholly provided prior to any 
part of the development being brought into use, and thereafter shall be retained 
unobstructed in perpetuity. In particular, no part of the access, visibility splays, or turning 
area, is to be obstructed by non-motorised vehicles.  
 
Reason:  
In the interest of highway safety and to accord with Policy GP 1 and TR 3 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2014.  
 
Condition 6 
 
The parking spaces and layout shown on the plans herewith approved shall be provided 
prior to any use of the development herewith approved. Thereafter, they shall be retained, 
unobstructed, for the purpose of parking only. In particular, no part of the parking or turning 
facilities is to be obstructed by non-motorised vehicles.  
 
Reason:  
In the interest of highway safety and to accord with Policy GP 1 and TR 3 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2014.  
 
Condition 7 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning, Wales (General 
Permitted Development) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2013 (or any order revoking and re-
enacting that order with or without modification), no development within Schedule 2, Part 1, 
Classes A, B, C, D and E shall be carried out within the curtilage of the holiday unit hereby 
approved (other than those expressly authorised by this permission) without the prior written 
consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason:  
To exert control over the future development of the site to ensure that the character and 
appearance is maintained in accordance with policy GP1 of the Carmarthenshire Local 
Development Plan 2014. 
 
Condition 8 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 (as amended for Wales) (or any order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order with or without modification), no fences, gates or walls other than those shown 
on the plans herewith approved shall be erected within the curtilage of the development 
hereby approved without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason:  

Page 28



 

 

To exert control over the future development of the site to ensure that the character and 
appearance is maintained in accordance with policy GP1 of the Carmarthenshire Local 
Development Plan 2014. 
Notes / Informatives 
 
Note 1 
  
Please note that this permission is specific to the plans and particulars approved as part of 
the application. Any departure from the approved plans will constitute unauthorised 
development and may be liable to enforcement action. You (or any subsequent developer) 
should advise the Council of any actual or proposed variations from the approved plans 
immediately so that you can be advised how to best resolve the matter. 
  
In addition, any conditions which the Council has imposed on this permission will be listed 
above and should be read carefully. It is your (or any subsequent developers’) responsibility 
to ensure that the terms of all conditions are met in full at the appropriate time (as outlined 
in the specific condition). 
  
The commencement of development without firstly meeting in full the terms of any 
conditions which require the submission of details prior to commencement of development 
will constitute unauthorised development. This will necessitate the submission of a further 
application to retain the unauthorised development and may render you liable to formal 
enforcement action. 
  
Failure on the part of the developer to observe the requirements of any conditions could 
result in the Council pursuing formal enforcement action in the form of a Breach of Condition 
Notice. 
  
Note 2 
  
Comments and guidance received from consultees relating to this application, including any 
other permissions or consents required, is available on the Authority’s website 
(www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk).  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/


 

 

 
 
 

Page 30



 

Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin
Carmarthenshire County Council

PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO
PLANNING COMMITTEE

Adroddiad Pennaeth Lle a 
Chynaliadwyedd
Lle a Seilwaith

Report of the Head of Place 
and Sustainability 

Place and Infrastructure

09/11/2023

APELIADAU
APPEALS

Page 31

Agenda Item 4



 

Planning Committee 09/11/2023 - Appeals 

 
 
COMMITTEE: 
 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: 
 

 
09/11/2023 

 
REPORT OF: 
 

 
HEAD OF PLACE AND SUSTAINABILITY 

 

Planning Appeals 
 
Summary 
 
Planning and Environment Decisions Wales (PEDW) manages casework relating to the 
development and use of land in the public interest, and deal with planning appeals. 
A Guide to Engaging with Planning & Environment Decisions Wales 
 
The local planning authority makes decisions on planning applications, and the applicant 
can appeal a planning decision if either they disagree with it, or the decision was not made 
within 8 weeks.  
 
This report provides the following information relating to planning appeals:- 
 
• A description of the appeal stages 
• The role and responsibilities of the parties 
• How to comment on an appeal 
• The appeal timescales 
• Table 1 - Appeals Lodged as @ 30/10/2023 
• Table 2 - Appeals in Progress as @ 30/10/2023 
• Table 3 - Appeals Determined between 03/10/2023 and 30/10/2023 

 
 
  

Page 32

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-09/guide-to-engaging-with-planning-and-environment-decisions-wales.pdf


 

Planning Committee 09/11/2023 - Appeals 

Appeal Stages 
 
Receipt to validation 
Appeal submitted (‘lodged’) to Planning and Environment Decisions Wales. On receipt, they 
check that it is a valid appeal. If all documentation is submitted with the initial appeal the 
validation stage will take 3 to 5 working days. 
 
Validation to start 
Once the appeal has been validated, PEDW provide the timetable for the appeal. This 
includes deadlines for the submission of representations and support documents. 
 
Appeals may be considered by a Planning Inspector in one of three ways: 
• written representations which involve the exchange of written statements by the appellant 

and the Council 
• informal hearing 
• public inquiry 
 
Start to event 
PEDW will identify a suitable inspector to consider the appeal submissions. The inspector 
will hold a site visit, hearing, or an inquiry. 
 
Event to decision 
The inspector will make a final decision on the appeal based on the evidence submitted. 
Decisions are published on the appeals portal. 
 
 
Roles and responsibilities 
 
Further guidance on the roles and responsibilities of each party in the appeals or called-in 
application process can be viewed here: 
https://www.gov.wales/planning-appeals-guidance-procedural-guide  
 
 
Comment on an appeal 
 
Anyone can comment on a planning appeal. 
 
The deadline for comments is 4 weeks after the start date of the appeal. 
 
The local planning authority must tell anyone who has commented on the original application 
(interested parties) that there’s an appeal. 
 
We must do this within a week of the appeal being started by Planning and Environment 
Decisions Wales.  Read the detailed guidance about taking part in an appeal.  
 
 
Timescales 
 
Most appeals are handled in writing and take about 14 weeks to determine. Informal 
hearings are likely to take up to about 21 weeks and public inquiries up to about 29 weeks. 
  

Page 33

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.wales/planning-appeals-guidance-procedural-guide
https://www.gov.wales/planning-appeals-guidance-engaging-planning-and-environment-decisions-wales


 

Planning Committee 09/11/2023 - Appeals 

TABLE 1 - Appeals Lodged as @ 30/10/2023 
 
There remains a backlog of new appeals waiting to be validated and started by PEDW. For several customer service, operational and resource reasons 
they have taken the decision to prioritise our Householder, Advert and Minor Commercial Appeal Services by starting these appeals ahead of other casework 
at this time. Except for a limited number of specialist cases that require bespoke procedural administration, all other casework will be dealt with in order of 
date of receipt. 
 
The following appeals have been lodged with PEDW and are currently waiting a start date to progress.  No comments should be submitted at this time. 
 
Planning 
Applic No 

Appeal 
Lodged 
Date 

Ward Site Address  Proposal Public 
Register 
Link 

PL/05874 12/07/2023 Manordeilo 
and Salem 

Field between Langwm Farm and 
Danygraig Small Holding, Talley, 
Llandeilo, SA19 7YS 

Retention of Storage Shed (resubmission of PL/03979) AP-7261 

PL/03823 01/08/2023 Bigyn  Trostre Retail Park, Llanelli, Trostre, 
Carmarthenshire, SA14 9UT 

Proposed demolition of existing building on site and subsequent 
construction of a Class A1 Lidl food store, Class A3 Drive Thru 
Restaurant and associated infrastructure works 

AP-7263 

PL/00754 08/08/2023 Manordeilo 
and Salem  

Angel Inn, Salem, Llandeilo, SA19 
7LY 

The proposal converts the existing ground floor (existing main bar area) 
into one 2-bedroom flat and first floor plan (existing 4 en-suite bedroom 
flat) into 2 flats (two bedroom flat and one bedroom flat) along with an 
extension that opens out to abide with current Covid regulations and the 
construction of 2 new holiday units to the rear of the site 

AP-7264 

PL/04459 17/08/2023 Quarter Bach  Land South of Cwmgarw Road, 
Upper Brynamman, Ammanford, 
SA18 1BY 

Outline application with all matters reserved for residential development 
comprising up to 60 dwellings 

AP-7271 

PL/05039 07/09/2023 Llanfihangel 
Aberbythych 

Bryngwyne Fach Farm, Carmel, 
Llanelli, SA14 7UH 

Provision of traveller site with twin unit caravan, day/utility room, touring 
caravan, agricultural buildings, solar array and access improvements 
(partly in retrospect) 

AP-7275 

PL/05366 02/10/2023 Llanboidy The Caravan, Springwells Farm, 
Llanboidy, Whitland, SA34 0EB 

Replacement of lawful caravan & decking with dwelling & integral 
garage (Re-submission following refusal of PL/04327) 

AP-7295 

 
  

P
age 34

https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000005ZSwZ
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000005Zd4r
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000005ZdjD
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000005ZfjQ
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0SQv0000002CTJ
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0SQv0000007etZ


 

Planning Committee 09/11/2023 - Appeals 

TABLE 2 - Appeals in Progress as @ 30/10/2023 
 
The following appeals are in progress.  Comments can only be submitted to PEDW by the Deadline Date. If comments are submitted after the 
deadline they will be returned. No new evidence is allowed at this stage. 
 

Planning 
Applic No  

PINS Start 
Date 

Ward PEDW 
Case 
Search 

Process Appeal 
Reason 

Decision 
Making 

Final 
Comments 
Deadline 
Date 

Site Address Proposal Files Public 
Register 

PL/00228 28/03/2023 Llangunnor APP/M68
25/A/21/3
276330 

Hearing The refusal 
of planning 
permission 
by this 
Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

09/06/2023 Land at 
Penbryn Farm, 
Llangynnor, 
Nantycaws, 
Carmarthen, 
SA32 8EX 

Creation of a family traveller 
pitch (for three generations) 
to include three static 
caravans and tourers, 
ancillary day / utility rooms, 
new stable block, retention 
and extension of hardcore 
area, retention of storage 
containers and installation of 
a package treatment plant 

PL/00228 AP-7164 

PL/04651 09/08/2023 Swiss Valley CAS-
02579-
Z6S0Z2 

Hearing The refusal 
of planning 
permission 
by this 
Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

20/09/2023 Land South of 
Coed Y Ffarm, 
Felinfoel, 
Llanelli, SA14 
8JB 

Provision of two traveller 
pitches to include static 
caravan, touring caravan and 
day room per pitch, relocated 
access point, two stable 
blocks and ecological 
improvements 

PL/04651 AP-7249 

W/40384 06/09/2023 Llanfihangel-
ar-Arth  

CAS-
02685-
Y9K0P6 

Hearing The refusal 
of planning 
permission 
by this 
Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

18/10/2023  Land Adjacent 
to Llwyngwen, 
Dolgran Road, 
Pencader, 
Carmarthen, 
SA39 9BX 

Proposed erection of one 
dwelling with pair of semi-
detached garages to rear - 
one for this plot (2) and the 
second for already approved 
dwelling to plot 1 

W/40384 AP-7252 

PL/04306 20/09/2023 Llangyndeyrn CAS-
02696-
N2Y5S7 

Written 
Representations 

The refusal 
of planning 
permission 
by this 
Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

01/11/2023  Vacant land off 
St Annes 
Lane, 
Cwmffrwd, 
Carmarthen, 
SA31 2LZ 

Outline planning permission 
for up to 23 dwellings and 
associated works including 
off-site highway 
improvements (resubmission 
of PL/01879) 

PL/04306 AP-7251 

PL/05461 03/10/2023 Burry Port CAS-
02756-
S8G9K1 

Hearing The refusal 
of planning 
permission 
by this 
Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

14/11/2023 4 Bryn 
Terrace, Burry 
Port, SA16 
0EE 

Side extension to existing 
dwelling 

PL/05461 AP-7254 

PL/04600 06/10/2023 Glyn CAS-
02803-
Q3J5G0 

Written 
Representations 

The refusal 
of planning 
permission 

Delegated 
Decision 

17/11/2023 Ty Gwyn 
Woodlands, 
Heol Llanelli, 

Full application for demolition 
and replacement of existing 
lawful residential unit in the 

PL/04600 AP-7258 

P
age 35

https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=3276330
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=3276330
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=3276330
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=PL/00228
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000000fPHE
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-Z6S0Z2
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-Z6S0Z2
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-Z6S0Z2
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=PL/04651
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000002oQaX
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-Y9K0P6
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-Y9K0P6
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-Y9K0P6
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=W/40384
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000004trtt
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-N2Y5S7
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-N2Y5S7
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-N2Y5S7
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=PL/04306
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000004tqqN
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-S8G9K1
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-S8G9K1
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-S8G9K1
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=PL/05461
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000004tyBP
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-Q3J5G0
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-Q3J5G0
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-Q3J5G0
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=PL/04600
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000004ZTmj


 

Planning Committee 09/11/2023 - Appeals 

by this 
Council 

Pontyates, 
Llanelli, SA15 
5UH 

form of a twin unit mobile 
home and porch, with a new 
dwelling and associated 
works 

PL/05883 11/10/2023 Llannon CAS-
02969-
L5W9C5 

Written 
Representations 

The refusal 
of planning 
permission 
by this 
Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

22/11/2023 64 
Rhosnewydd, 
Tumble, 
Llanelli, SA14 
6LA 

Rear first floor extension PL/05883 AP-7298 

PL/03326 24/10/2023 Llandybie  CAS-
02761-
P6R9R9 

Written 
Representations 

The failure 
by this 
Council to 
determine 
a planning 
application 
within the 
appropriate 
period 

Delegated 
Decision 

05/12/2023 Cae Grug, 
Wernddu 
Road, 
Ammanford 

Conversion and adaption of 
stable to form a residential 
unit 

PL/03326 AP-7255 

 
** Householder Appeal - There will not be an opportunity for interested parties to comment at appeal stage, only to withdraw any previous comments made. However, any 
representations that were made to us regarding the original planning application will be forwarded to PEDW and the Inspector will take full account of these when deciding the 
appeal. 
 
 
 

  

P
age 36

https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-L5W9C5
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-L5W9C5
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-L5W9C5
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=PL/05883
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0SQv000000AB8f
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-P6R9R9
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-P6R9R9
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-P6R9R9
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=PL/03326
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000004tyCN


 

Planning Committee 09/11/2023 - Appeals 

TABLE 3 - Appeals Determined between 03/10/2023 and 30/10/2023 
 
The following appeals have been determined by PEDW:-  
 

Planning 
Applic No  

Wards Decision Decision 
Date 

Proposal Site Address  Appeal Reason Decision 
Making 

View 
Decision 

PL/03447 Llangunnor  Dismissed 03/10/2023 Retention of existing residential 
caravan at Herons Brook (caravan 
brought onto the land in July 2006 as 
a replacement for the previous 
residential caravan which had been 
in situ at Herons Brook since 1982) 

Heronsbrook Farm, 
Capel Dewi, 
Carmarthen, SA32 
8AH 

The refusal of planning 
permission by this 
Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

Decision 

PL/05592 Tycroes Allowed 23/10/2023 New ancillary outbuilding to provide 
Gym, Home Office & Domestic 
workshop/ancillary store room 

12 Mill Terrace, 
Ammanford, SA18 
3NR 

The refusal of planning 
permission by this 
Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

Decision 

PL/05412 Burry Port Dismissed 24/10/2023 Single-storey front porch to bungalow 102A Stepney Road, 
Burry Port, SA16 
0BP 

The refusal of planning 
permission by this 
Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

Decision 

 
 

P
age 37

https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=PL/03447
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=PL/05592
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=PL/05412


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 

PLANNING SERVICE PERFORMANCE - QUARTER 2 

Recommendations / key decisions required: 
 

• To note core indicators and performance for Quarter 2 of 2023/24. 
 

 
Reasons:  

• To provide information updating on the performance of aspects of the planning function 
of the Council. 

• To reflect part of the ongoing response to the recommendations contained in the Wales 
Audit Office report. 

• To reflect the ongoing commitment to performance management and monitoring. 
 
Relevant scrutiny committee to be consulted   NO  

Cabinet Decision Required        NO  

Council Decision Required         NO  

CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIO HOLDER:-   Cllr. Ann Davies 
Cabinet Member for Rural Affairs & Planning Policy 

Directorate 
Environment 
 
Name of Head of Service: 
Rhodri Griffiths 
 
Report Author: 
Ian Llewelyn 

 
Designations: 
 
Head of Place and 
Sustainability 
 
Forward Planning 
Manager 

 

 
Tel Nos. 01267 246270 
 
E Mail Addresses: 
RGriffiths@sirgar.gov.uk 
 
01267 228816 
IRLlewelyn@sirgar.gov.uk 

 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE

9TH NOVEMBER 2023

Page 39

Agenda Item 5

mailto:RGriffiths@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:IRLlewelyn@sirgar.gov.uk


 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
9TH NOVEMBER 2023 

 
   PLANNING SERVICE PERFORMANCE - QUARTER 2 

1. Summary  
 
To provide planning committee members with a Quarterly reports and subsequent end of year 
reports on the performance recorded within the Planning Service and notably Development 
Management and Enforcement.  It should be noted that this report is presented as part of the 
commitment to Performance Monitoring and as part of an ongoing commitment to report to 
Planning Committee.   
 
The core indicators set out in the report will form part of our quarterly performance reporting for 
the Division. 
 
This report details the performance for Quarter 2 for the period between July 2023 and 
September 2023. It also includes the comparative quarterly and cumulative data for 2022/23.   
 
2. Performance Indicators 
 
The report identifies an extensive set of core performance monitoring indicators which will form 
part of the future monitoring of the planning services performance.  These include both 
“National Indicators” and those identified by this Council.  
 
The indicators seek to clearly convey performance to the committee and will along with other 
performance measures see a continued focus on performance improvement.  The indicators 
reflect and include a range of areas of the planning service including determination of planning 
applications, enforcement, pre-applications and appeals. 
 
The identified core performance indicators and the performance outcomes are set out in the 
appended report: 
 
 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES  
 

 
 
 

  

Page 40



 

 

 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
3. Finance   

Planning performance has the potential for significant financial implications in the event 
that the determination of applications are over time or an extension of time has not been 
negotiated then if requested, the planning fee is returned. 
 
The financial impacts arising from decision making and in particular costs awarded at 
appeal are noted.  The report details costs noting that they derive from refusals against 
officer recommendations. 

5. Risk Management Issues 
The report reflects the commitment to service improvement as a result of the Wales Audit 
report into the Planning Service.  There is a corporate recognition of performance risks 
associated with failure to act on the recommendations of the report. 

 
CONSULTATIONS 

 
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 
Signed:  R Griffiths                                                               Head of Place and Sustainability                                             

1. Scrutiny Committee N/A 
2.Local Member(s)  N/A  
3.Community / Town Council N/A 
4.Relevant Partners  N/A 
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  N/A 
CABINET PORTFOLIO HOLDER(S) 
AWARE/CONSULTED  

Yes 

 
Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
THERE ARE NONE   

 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 
Signed:    R Griffiths                                                            Head of Place and Sustainability                            
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 
 

Finance 
 

ICT 
 

Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical 
Assets  

NONE NONE YES  NONE YES  NONE NONE 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Planning Performance Monitoring - Core Indicators 
Reporting to Planning Committee  
 

Quarter 2 - July to September 2023 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT. 
 
To provide planning committee members with a Quarterly updates and end of year reports 
on the performance recorded within the Planning Service and notably Development 
Management and Enforcement.   
 
It should be noted that this report is presented as part of the commitment to Performance 
Monitoring and as part of an ongoing commitment to report to Planning Committee.    
 
The core indicators set out in the report will form part of our quarterly performance reporting 
for the Division. 
 
This report details the performance for Quarter 2 for the period between July and September 
2023. It also includes the comparative quarterly and cumulative data for 2022/23.   
 
2. Summary of Performance 

The report presents the latest update of the suite of performance indicators for the 2nd quarter 
period between July and September 2023 for the planning division. It includes headline 
performance indicators reported nationally to Welsh Government - Indicators 2 and 10 as 
well as series of local indicators.  

Achievement of the planning performance standards set by the Welsh Government were 
maintained in Q2 with the percentage of all planning applications determined within the 
agreed time being 87% with a cumulative return of 88% (WG target 80%; Divisional Delivery 
Plan Target 85%). The Division has therefore continued to outperform the targets set by the 
Welsh Government. For the third quarter running more applications were determined than 
were received. 

Indicator 4 (minor applications), Indicator 5 (householder applications) and Indicator 6 (other 
applications) show a relatively consistent level of performance and are above target. 
Performance in relation to statutory pre-applications has improved significantly to 55% in Q2 
even though the target has not been achieved. 

However, it is still noted that there are variations in performance against certain indicators 
for instance, Indicator 3 (major applications) which has a cumulative performance of 67% 
determined within the target date.  It should be noted this reflects the potential for such 
figures to be influenced by the relatively small number of applications and longer standing 
applications moving to determination. 

Validation of applications within 5 days is still a challenge and a process review will be 
commenced in November 2023 

Performance Indicator 14 for enforcement shows a consolidation of the improvements over 
previous performance returns with 86% of cases investigated within the 84-day target date.  
This reflects the third successive quarter that the 80% target has been met or exceeded. 
The average number of days taken to investigate enforcement cases is also below the 84-
day target for the second quarter running. Page 43



2 
 

3. Performance Indicators 
 
The report identifies an extensive set of core performance monitoring indicators which will 
form part of the future monitoring of the planning services performance.  These include both 
“National Indicators” prescribed by the Welsh Government and those identified by this 
Council.  
 
The indicators seek to clearly convey performance to the committee and will along with other 
performance measures see a continued focus on performance improvement.  The indicators 
reflect and include a range of areas of the planning service including determination of 
planning applications, enforcement, pre-applications, and appeals. 
 
 

Performance Statistics Development Management - Planning Applications  

Indicator 1 Number of Planning Applications registered against applications 
determined 

Indicator 2 Percentage of all planning applications determined within target date 
(PLA/018 - 85% target) - National Indicator 

Indicator 3 Major Planning Applications determined within target date. 
(PLA/009 - 80% target) 

Indicator 4 Minor Planning Applications determined within target date. 
(PLA/011 - 80% target) 

Indicator 5 Householder Applications determined within target date. 
(PLA/009 - 90% target) 

Indicator 6 Other Applications determined within target date. 
(PLA/024 - 80% target) 

Indicator 7 Statutory Pre-Applications determined within target date. 
(PLA/014 - 85% target) 

Indicator 8 Percentage of Member made decisions against Officer advice 

Indicator 9 Validation of Applications Received (5 days of receipt)  
(PLA/015 - 100% target) 

Performance Statistics Development Management - Appeals  

Indicator 10 Percentage of planning appeals dismissed. 
(PLA/019 - 75% target) - National Indicator 

Indicator 11 Appeals determined against officer recommendation 

Indicator 12 Applications for costs at Section 78 appeal upheld  

Performance Statistics Development Management - Enforcement  

Indicator 13 Enforcement Complaints registered 

Indicator 14 Percentage of closed enforcement cases investigated within 84 days. 
(PLA/021 - 80% target) - National Indicator 

Indicator 15 Average time taken to investigate enforcement cases - National 
Indicator (Target - 84 days) 

Page 44



3 
 

Performance Statistics Development Management 
- Planning Applications 
 

Indicator 1 Number of Planning Applications registered against applications 
determined 

 
This indicator contains all planning application types and compares the number 
determined against those registered per month. 
 
Period 
 

Registered 
Total 

Determined Total 

22/23 

Quarter 1 
Quarter 2 
Quarter 3 
Quarter 4 
Cumulative 

443 
452 
449 
443 

1787 

461 
401 
415 
454 

1731 

23/24   

Quarter 1 
Quarter 2 
Quarter 3 
Quarter 4 
Cumulative 

438 
384 

 
 

822 

446 
435 

 
 

881 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

438

384

446
435

350

370

390

410

430

450

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Registered Determined Total

Indicator 1

Page 45



4 
 

Indicator 2 Percentage of ALL planning applications determined within target 
date (PLA/018 indicator collected nationally) - Target = 85% 

 
The indicator measures the number and percentage of applications determined within the target 
time. (The totals exclude certain application types as directed by Welsh Government.)   
 
 
Period 
 

Total No of 
Apps 

Inside 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

Inside 
Target % 

Outside 
Target % 

22/23 

Quarter 1 392 358 34 91% 9% 
Quarter 2 336 291 45 87% 13% 
Quarter 3 362 331 31 91% 9% 
Quarter 4 378 327 51 87% 13% 
Cumulative 1468 1307 161 89% 11% 
23/24 

Quarter 1 366 326 40 89% 11% 
Quarter 2 355 309 46 87% 13% 
Quarter 3      
Quarter 4      
Cumulative 721 635 86 88% 12% 

 

 
Applications excluded from the Welsh Government Development Management Quarterly Survey:-  
 
Hazardous Substances, LDO – Commencement Notice Approval, Applications for Tree Works to 
TPO or in Conservation Areas, Prior Notifications, Non-Material Amendments, Demolition in a 
Conservation Area, Hedgerow Removal Notices, Electricity Notifications. 
  

28%

326
309

40 46

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Inside Target Outside Target

Indicator 2

Page 46



5 
 

Indicator 3 Major Planning Applications determined within target date.  
Target = 80% 

 
The indicator measures the number and percentage of major planning applications 
determined within the target time.    
 
Major Applications definition:- 
 

• a proposal to erect 10 or more dwellings (including flats) 
• where the number of dwellings is not known (outline), the application site exceeds 0.5 

hectares 
• where the application site exceeds 1 hectare 
• where proposed buildings/extensions create a floor area exceeding 1000 square metres 
• winning and working of minerals 
• waste development 
 
Period 
 

Total No of 
Apps 

Inside 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

Inside 
Target % 

Outside 
Target % 

22/23 
Quarter 1 8 6 2 75% 25% 
Quarter 2 9 5 4 56% 44% 
Quarter 3 4 4 0 100% 0% 
Quarter 4 8 6 2 75% 25% 
Cumulative 29 21 8 72% 28% 
23/24 
Quarter 1 4 2 2 50% 50% 
Quarter 2 11 8 3 73% 27% 
Quarter 3      
Quarter 4      
Cumulative 15 10 5 67% 33% 

 

 
 

2

8

2

3

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Inside Target Outside Target

Indicator 3

Page 47



6 
 

Indicator 4 Minor Planning Applications determined within target date 
Target = 80% 

 
The indicator measures the number and percentage of Minor applications determined 
within the target time.    
 
Minor planning applications include applications where they fall below the level of a major 
application but exclude householder and other applications captured under Indicators 5 
and 6 below.  
 
Period 
 

Total No of 
Apps 

Inside 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

Inside 
Target % 

Outside 
Target % 

22/23 

Quarter 1 151 131 20 87% 13% 
Quarter 2 146 126 20 86% 14% 
Quarter 3 163 143 20 88% 12% 
Quarter 4 176 144 32 82% 18% 
Cumulative 636 544 92 86% 14% 
23/24 

Quarter 1 133 116 17 87% 13% 
Quarter 2 132 111 21 84% 16% 
Quarter 3      
Quarter 4      
Cumulative 265 227 38 86% 14% 

 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 

60% 50%

116 111

17 21

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Inside Target Outside Target

Indicator 4

Page 48



7 
 

Indicator 5 Householder Applications determined within target date. 
Target = 90% 

 
The indicator measures the number and percentage of householder applications 
determined within the target time.    
 
Householder applications include: Extensions, Conservatories. Loft conversions, Dormer 
windows, Garages, car ports, and Outbuildings 
 
Period 
 

Total No of 
Apps 

Inside 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

Inside 
Target % 

Outside 
Target % 

22/23 
Quarter 1 122 120 2 98% 2% 
Quarter 2 105 97 8 92% 8% 
Quarter 3 110 105 5 95% 5% 
Quarter 4 97 89 8 92% 8% 
Cumulative 434 411 23 95% 5% 
23/24 
Quarter 1 113 103 10 91% 9% 
Quarter 2 103 97 6 94% 6% 
Quarter 3      
Quarter 4      
Cumulative 216 200 16 93% 7% 

 

 
 
 
 
  

103
97

10 6

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Inside Target Outside Target

Indicator 5

Page 49



8 
 

Indicator 6 Other Applications determined within target date 
Target = 80% 

 
Application types included: Advertisement Consent, Listed Building Consent, Certificates 
of Lawfulness, Renewals, Removal / Variation on Condition(s) 
 
Period 
 

Total No of 
Apps 

Inside 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

Inside 
Target % 

Outside 
Target % 

22/23 

Quarter 1 111 101 10 91% 9% 
Quarter 2 76 63 13 83% 17% 
Quarter 3 85 79 6 93% 7% 
Quarter 4 97 88 9 91% 9% 
Cumulative 369 331 38 90% 10|% 
23/24 

Quarter 1 85 79 6 93% 7% 
Quarter 2 109 93 16 85% 15% 
Quarter 3      
Quarter 4      
Cumulative 194 172 22 89% 11% 

 

 
 
  

79

93

6

16

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Inside Target Outside Target

Indicator 6

Page 50



9 
 

Indicator 7 Statutory Pre-Applications determined within target date 
Target = 85% 

 
Period 
 

Total No of 
Apps 

Inside 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

Inside 
Target % 

Outside 
Target % 

22/23 
Quarter 1 49 20 29 41% 59% 
Quarter 2 50 17 33 34% 66% 
Quarter 3 53 20 33 38% 62% 
Quarter 4 46 16 30 35% 65% 
Cumulative 198 73 125 37% 63% 
23/24 
Quarter 1 29 8 21 28% 72% 
Quarter 2 47 34 13 72% 28% 
Quarter 3      
Quarter 4      
Cumulative 76 42 34 55% 45% 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

8

34

21

13

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Inside Target Outside Target

Indicator 7

Page 51



10 
 

Indicator 8 Percentage of Member made decisions against Officer advice 

 
The indicator identifies those applications determined contrary to the officer’s 
recommendation at Planning Committee. 
  
Note: Based on the Decision Sent Date not the actual date of the Planning Committee. 
 
Period 
 

Total No Granted following officer 
recommendation to 

Refuse 

Refused following officer 
recommendation to 

Approve 
22/23    
Quarter 1 
 

0 0 0 

Quarter 2 
 

0 0 0 

Quarter 3 
 

1 1 
(PL/4526) 

0 

Quarter 4 0 1 
(PL/04504) 

0 

23/24    
Quarter 1 
 

1 1 
(PL/04946) 

0 

Quarter 2 
 

1 1 
(PL/05786) 

0 

Quarter 3 
 

   

Quarter 4    

 
 
  

Page 52

https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/planning-application/a0b5J000002hkFk/pl04526
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/planning-application/a0b5J000002hkBYQAY/pl04504
https://carmarthenshire.my.site.com/en/s/planning-application/a0b5J000002kNmR/pl04946
https://carmarthenshire.my.site.com/en/s/planning-application/a0b5J000002kf07/pl05786


11 
 

Indicator 9 Validation of Planning Applications (within 5 days of receipt following 
payment). Target = 100% 

 
Note: The collection of data in monitoring performance in relation to validation has been 
subject to revision - consequently this represents the first set of monitoring outcomes with 
ongoing performance and trends to be monitored. 
 
Period 
 

Total No of 
Apps 

Inside 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

Inside 
Target % 

Outside 
Target % 

22/23 
Quarter 1 432 269 163 62% 38% 
Quarter 2 429 288 141 67% 33% 
Quarter 3 423 255 168 60% 40% 
Quarter 4 418 267 151 64% 36% 
Cumulative 1702 1079 623 63% 37% 
23/24 
Quarter 1 498 209 289 42% 58% 
Quarter 2 357 200 157 56% 44% 
Quarter 3      
Quarter 4      
Cumulative 855 409 446 48% 52% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

209 200

289

157

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Inside Target Outside Target

Indicator 9

Page 53



12 
 

Performance Statistics Development Management - Appeals 
 

Indicator 10 Percentage of planning appeals dismissed.  
(PLA/019 indicator collected nationally). Target = 75% 

 
 
Period 
 

Total No of 
Appeals 

Total 
Dismissed 

Total % 
Dismissed 

22/23 
Quarter 1 6 3 50% 
Quarter 2 9 7 78% 

Quarter 3 14 12 86% 

Quarter 4 10 4 40% 

Cumulative 39 26 67% 

23/24 
Quarter 1 11 8 73% 
Quarter 2 4 1 25% 

Quarter 3    

Quarter 4    
Cumulative 15 9 60% 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 54



13 
 

Indicator 11 Appeals determined against officer recommendation 

 
Identifies the outcome of appeals lodged where they are because of a decision taken 
contrary to an officer recommendation. 
 
Period 
 

Total No of 
Appeals 

Granted following officer 
recommendation to 

Refuse 

Refused following officer 
recommendation to 
Approve 

22/23    
Quarter 1 0 - - 
Quarter 2 0 - - 
Quarter 3 0 - - 
Quarter 4 0 - - 

23/24    
Quarter 1 1 0 1 

(PL/00489) - Allowed 
Quarter 2 0 0 0 
Quarter 3    
Quarter 4    

 
 
 
 
 

Indicator 12 Applications for costs at Section 78 appeal upheld  

 
Award of costs against the Local Planning Authority Quarter 1 = £6,100 
 
The above costs awarded against the Local Planning Authority following the appeal in 
relation to PL/00489 One Planet Development at Penybanc, Llandeilo.  See Indicator 11 
above. 
 
Note:  
Members are reminded in reaching a decision of the requirements under the ‘Code of 
Conduct for Councillors and Officers in Planning Matters’ and to be aware of the 
implications including financial of that decision. 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 55

https://carmarthenshire.my.site.com/en/s/planning-application/a0b5J000000SBHe/pl00489


14 
 

Performance Statistics Development Management 
- Enforcement 
 
 

Indicator 13 Enforcement Complaints registered 

 
Identifies the quarterly number of enforcement complaints registered.  
 
Period 
 

Registered 
Total 

22/23 

 
Quarter 1 
Quarter 2 
Quarter 3 
Quarter 4 
Cumulative 
 

 
163 
189 
109 
118 
579 

22/23  

 
Quarter 1 
Quarter 2 
Quarter 3 
Quarter 4 
Cumulative 
 

 
157 
153 

 
 

310 

 
 
 
 
 
  

157

153

151

152

153

154

155

156

157

158

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Indicator 13

Page 56



15 
 

Indicator 14 Percentage of closed enforcement cases investigated within 84 days. 
Target = 80% 

 
Note: 'Investigated' means that the authority has considered the alleged breach of 
planning control and advised the complainant of the outcome of their investigation.   
 
Period 
 

Total No of 
Cases 

Inside 
Target 

Outside 
Target 

Inside 
Target % 

Outside 
Target % 

22/23 
Quarter 1 166 90 76 54% 46% 
Quarter 2 156 118 38 76% 24% 
Quarter 3 114 80 34 70% 30% 
Quarter 4 105 84 21 80% 20% 
Cumulative 541 372 169 69% 31% 
23/24 
Quarter 1 105 86 19 82 18 
Quarter 2 132 114 18 86% 14% 
Quarter 3      
Quarter 4      
Cumulative 237 200 37 84% 16% 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

86

114

19 18

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Inside Target Outside Target

Indicator 14

Page 57



16 
 

Indicator 15 Average time taken to investigate enforcement cases (in days).  
Target: 84 days  

 
 
Period 
 

Average no 
of days 

22/23 
 
Quarter 1 
Quarter 2 
Quarter 3 
Quarter 4 
 
 

 
283 
124 
198 
93 

 

23/24 

 
Quarter 1 
Quarter 2 
Quarter 3 
Quarter 4 
 

 
75 
79 

 
 
 
 
 
 

75

79

73

74

75

76

77

78

79

80

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Indicator 15

Page 58



Note: These minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting. 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY, 26 SEPTEMBER 2023  
 
 

PRESENT: Councillor W.T. Evans (Chair) 
 
Councillors (In Person):  
S.M. Allen T. Davies M. Donoghue N. Evans 
J.K. Howell A.C. Jones M.J.A. Lewis A. Leyshon 
B.D.J. Phillips E. Skinner R. Sparks G.B. Thomas 
M. Thomas D.E. Williams   

 
Also in attendance (In Person): 
Councillors B.A.L. Roberts and S. Rees in respect of planning application PL/05250 
 
Also Present (In Person): 
S. Murphy, Senior Solicitor 
J. Thomas, Senior Development Management Officer [Aman Gwendraeth] 
H. Towns, Regional Minerals & Waste Manager 
J. Owens, Democratic Services Officer 
 
Also Present (Virtually): 
I.R. Llewelyn, Forward Planning Manager 
G. Morgan, Assistant Engineer Planning Liaison 
E. Evans, Principal Democratic Services Officer 
 
Chamber - County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP and remotely - 1.30 pm – 15:45 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs. J.M. Charles, P. Cooper, J.P. 
Jenkins and D. Owen. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTERESTS 
 
Councillor Minute Number  Nature of Interest 

Cllr W.E. 
Skinner 

2.               3:  PL/05250 – Proposed change 
of use from B1 (offices) to D1 use 
(wellbeing centre) at Dragon 24, 
Traeth Ffordd, Llanelli, SA15 2LF 

4.               

Personal and Prejudicial – 
Lives close to the 
proposed Development 
and will make 
representations on the 
application but note vote 
in accordance with part 
14(2) of the Council’s 
code of conduct. 

  
 

Page 59

Agenda Item 6.1



Note: These minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting. 
 

 
 

3. DETERMINATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
3.1 RESOLVED that the following planning application be granted subject to 

the conditions detailed within the Report/Addendum of the Head of Place 
and Sustainability and or reported at the meeting:- 
  

PL/04430 Residential Development at Land off Heol Y Parc, Hendy, 
Swansea, SA4 0XZ 

  The Senior Development Management Officer referred to the 
private site visit undertaken by the Committee earlier that 
day (minute 3.2 of the Planning Committee held on the 2nd 
February, 2023 refers), the purpose of which was to enable 
the Committee to view the site in relation to the objectors 
concerns. He referred, with the aid of PowerPoint slides, to 
the written report of the Head of Place and Sustainability 
which provided an appraisal of the site together with a 
description of the proposed development, a summary of 
consultation responses received and information relating to 
the local and national policies relevant to the assessment of 
the application.  

  
The Committee was advised that the Head of Place and 
Sustainability was recommending approval of the application 
for the reasons detailed within the written report. 

  
A representation was received objecting to the application 
re-iterating the points detailed within the Head of Place and 
Sustainability’s report and included: 
  

       Objections received from 75 local residents and the 
Community Council 

       Road safety and traffic congestion 
       Lack of off-street parking and parking for visitors 
       The LDP had identified the site for 5 houses. The 

current application was for 7 and the site was not 
identified for development within the emerging LDP 

       Loss of wildlife habitat and a wildlife corridor 
       Land ownership / boundary issues 
       Loss of privacy for neighboring properties 

  
The applicant’s agent and Senior Development Management 
Officer responded to the issues raised. 
  

  
  
 

Page 60



Note: These minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting. 
 

 
3.2 RESOLVED that the following application be refused contrary to the 

recommendation of the Head of Place and Sustainability:- 
  

  
PL/05250 
  

  
Proposed change of use from B1 (offices) to D1 use 
(wellbeing centre) at Dragon 24, Traeth Ffordd, Llanelli, 
SA15 2LF  

  (Note: Councillor E Skinner, having earlier declared an interest 
in this item, made representations in accordance with Section 
14(2) of the Council’s Code of Conduct and left the Chamber for 
the vote and did not vote on the application) 
  
The Senior Development Management Officer referred to the 
private site visit undertaken by the Committee earlier that day 
(minute 3.3 of the Planning Committee held on the 14th 
September, 2023 refers), the purpose of which was to enable 
the Committee to view the site in relation to the concerns raised 
by Local Members. 
  
The Senior Development Management Officer referred, with the 
aid of PowerPoint slides, to the written report of the Head of 
Place and Sustainability which provided an appraisal of the site 
together with a summary of the consultation responses received 
and information relating to the local and national policies 
relevant to the assessment of the application.  

  
The Committee was advised that the Head of Place and 
Sustainability was recommending approval of the application for 
the reasons detailed within the written report. 
  
Representations were received from the local members 
objecting to the application re-iterating some of the points 
detailed within the Head of Place and Sustainability’s report.  
The main areas of concern related to the proposal being in 
conflict with the objectives of Policy GP1 of the LDP on the 
basis that: 
  

      The sensitivity of the location in a residential, 
recreational, tourist and business area with nearby 
playgrounds and water-based activities. 
  

      The proposal would be out of character with the 
surrounding area and impact upon the amenity of 
adjacent land uses, properties, residents and the 
community.  
  
 

Page 61



Note: These minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting. 
 

       Insufficient parking facilities and public transport links for 
the likely number of service users. 

  
       Safety concerns relating to the proximity of the proposal 

to the river and dock which could result in possible 
dangers for the service users. 
  

      Limited consultation undertaken, with no Risk 
Assessment or Community Impact Assessment. 
  

       A Public Spaces Protection Order came into force for the 
Llanelli town in October 2020, and following a review in 
2023 the boundary was extended to include the North 
Dock area, which indicated a contradiction to the 
information submitted by Dyfed Powys Police. 

  
In considering the application, and contrary to the Head of Place 
and Sustainability’s approval recommendation, the Committee 
considered the application unacceptable in the context of the 
information provided by the Local Members.  
 
The Senior Development Management Officer responded to the 
issues raised and stipulated that the proposer and seconder to 
refuse the application was required to provide material planning 
reasons and evidence for the refusal of the application to the 
Head of Place and Sustainability. 
 
Concerns were expressed by the proposer and seconder in 
respect of the historical evidence of anti-social behaviour and 
criminal activity associated with the DDAS service users in 
Llanelli Town Centre which was considered to have an adverse 
impact on the businesses, residential properties and amenities 
within the vicinity, including the cycle path and recreational park. 
The proximity of the proposed site to the river and dock was 
also a concern as no risk assessment had been undertaken 
regarding the safety of service users. Reference was also made 
to insufficient parking and transport links. 
 
The Committee concluded that the application was in 
contravention of Policy GP1(d) of the LDP  

  
 

Page 62



Note: These minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting. 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CHAIR       DATE 
 
 
 
 
 

[PLEASE NOTE:  These minutes reflect the order of business itemised on the 
agenda for the meeting which may differ from that on any webcast recording as 
applications with members of the public attending to speak would have been 
dealt with first.]  

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Note: These minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting. 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

THURSDAY, 12 OCTOBER 2023  
 
 

PRESENT: Councillor W.T. Evans (Chair) (In Person) 
 
Councillors (In Person):  
S.M. Allen J.M. Charles P. Cooper J.K. Howell 
A.C. Jones M.J.A. Lewis B.D.J. Phillips E. Skinner 
G.B. Thomas M. Thomas   

 
Councillors (Virtually):  
T. Davies M. Donoghue N. Evans A. Leyshon 
D. Owen R. Sparks D.E. Williams  
 
Also in attendance: 
Councillors T. Higgins in respect of planning application PL/04864 (Virtually) 
Councillor N. Lewis in respect of planning application PL/05822 (In Person) 
 
Also Present (In Person): 
S. Murphy, Senior Solicitor 
I.R. Llewelyn, Forward Planning Manager 
J. Thomas, Senior Development Management Officer [Aman Gwendraeth] 
H. Rice, Senior Development Management Officer 
S. Rees, Simultaneous Translator 
M. Runeckles, Members Support Officer 
E. Bryer, Democratic Services Officer 
 
Also Present (Virtually): 
Z.A. Evans, Senior Technician [Planning Liaison] 
E. Evans, Principal Democratic Services Officer 
 
Chamber - County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP and remotely - 10.00 am - 1.30 pm 
 
(NOTE:  

• At 12:05pm the Committee adjourned for a break and reconvened at 12.20pm. 
• At 13:05pm the Committee’s attention was drawn to Council Procedure Rule 

(CPR) 9 – Duration of Meeting and, as the meeting had been underway for three 
hours, it was resolved to suspend standing orders, in accordance with CPR 23.1, 
to enable the Committee to complete the remaining business on the agenda.) 

 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
There were no apologies for absence. 
  
 
 
 

Page 65

Agenda Item 6.2



 

Note: These minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting. 

2. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTERESTS 
 
Councillor  Minute Number Nature of Interest 
M.Thomas 3 – Planning application PL/05130 - 

Demolition of existing 
dwellinghouse and siting of 4no. 
detached dwellinghouses at 22 Ar Y 
Bryn, Pembrey, Llanelli, SA16 0AX 

Has written objecting to 
the application.  

  
 

3. DETERMINATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
3.1    RESOLVED that the following planning application be granted subject 

to land contamination checks, the conditions detailed within the 
Report/Addendum of the Head of Place and Sustainability and or 
reported at the meeting:- 

  
  

PL/04864 
  
Proposed full planning permission for construction of 10 
dwellinghouses at Land to the rear of Y Garreg Llwyd, 
Ebenezer Road, Llanedi, SA4 0ZL  
  
A representation was received objecting to the application re-
iterating the points detailed within the Head of Place and 
Sustainability’s report and included: 
  

•         Concerns that the development would result in the flooding 
of adjacent properties.  

•         The land was previously landfill and any ground 
contamination must be eradicated.  

•         Potential impact upon privacy of adjacent residents.  
•         Need for Section 106 contributions to benefit the village.  

  
The Senior Development Management Officer responded to the 
issues raised. 
  

  
3.2    RESOLVED that the following planning applications be granted 

subject to the conditions detailed within the Report/Addendum of the 
Head of Place and Sustainability and or reported at the meeting:- 

  
  

PL/05056 
  
Construction of a 3.0m wide shared use path between 
Caerbryn and Penygroes at Phase 3 of the Shared-use Path 
between Pen-y-groes and Cae’r-bryn, Carmarthenshire, SA18 
3EQ 
  

Page 66



 

Note: These minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting. 

  
PL05130 

  
Demolition of existing dwellinghouse and Siting of 4no. 
Detached dwellinghouses at 22 Ar Y Bryn, Pembrey, Llanelli, 
SA16 0AX 
  
[Note: Councillor M. Thomas, having earlier declared an interest in 
this item, left the Council Chamber prior to the consideration and 
determination thereof.] 
  

  
PL/05546 

  
Residential Development (9 Bungalows) at Land opposite the 
Plough and Harrow, Betws, Ammanford, SA18 2HE 
  

  
PL/05766 

  
5m tower extension to the existing installation. Relocation of 3 
no. antennas and 2 no. dishes (detailed in application E/38278). 
Installation of 6 no. new antennas and 5 no. new ground-based 
cabinets. Installation of remote radio units, break out boxes, 
mast head amplifiers, GPS nodes and associated apparatus 
and ancillary works at Land at Nant Y Bai Forest, 
Rhandirmwyn, Llandovery, SA20 0PA 
  

  
PL/06083 

  
Proposed detached bungalow at 60 Heol Y Meinciau, 
Pontyates, Llanelli, SA15 5RT 
  

  
3.3    RESOLVED that the following planning application be refused for the 

reasons detailed within the Report of the Head of Place and 
Sustainability: 

  
  

PL/05822 
  
Proposed residential development of 16 units, extension of 
estate road and associated works at Land formerly part of Cefn 
Farm and off Dan-y-Dderwen, Rhydargaeau, Carmarthen, SA32 
7DQ 
  
A representation was received in support of the application re-
iterating the points detailed within the Head of Place and 
Sustainability’s report and included: 
  

•         The need for affordable housing in the area. 
•         The Section 106 contributions would benefit the village and 

the proposed open space / larger play area provision would 
benefit local families. 

  
The Senior Development Management Officer responded to the 
points raised. 
  

Page 67



 

Note: These minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting. 

  
4. APPEALS REPORT 

 
The Committee considered the Planning Appeals Report which provided 
information relating to lodged planning appeals as at 2nd October, 2023. 
  
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
  
 

5. TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD 
ON THE 14TH SEPTEMBER, 2023 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on the 
14 September, 2023 be signed as a correct record. 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CHAIR       DATE 
 

[PLEASE NOTE:  These minutes reflect the order of business itemised on the 
agenda for the meeting which may differ from that on any webcast recording as 
applications with members of the public attending to speak would have been 
dealt with first.]  

 

Page 68



 

Note: These minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting. 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY, 24 OCTOBER 2023  
 
 

PRESENT: Councillor A.C. Jones (Vice Chair in the Chair) 
 
Councillors (In Person):  
S.M. Allen J.M. Charles P. Cooper T. Davies 
M. Donoghue J.K. Howell M.J.A. Lewis E. Skinner 
R. Sparks M. Thomas D.E. Williams  

 
Councillors (Virtually):  
A. Leyshon D. Owen   
 
 
Also Present (In Person): 
S. Murphy, Senior Solicitor 
H. Towns, Senior Development and Enforcement Manager 
R. Northcott, Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB) Engineer 
G. Glenister, Senior Enforcement and Monitoring Officer 
A. Eynon, Principal Translator 
R. Morris, Members Support Officer 
E. Bryer, Democratic Services Officer 
 
Also Present (Virtually): 
I.R. Llewelyn, Forward Planning Manager 
Z.A. Evans, Senior Technician [Planning Liaison] 
M. Runeckles, Members Support Officer 
 
Chamber - County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP and remotely - 1.00  - 3.10 pm 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors. J.P. Jenkins, B.D.J. 
Phillips, G.B. Thomas and W.T. Evans. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTERESTS 
 
There were no declarations of personal interest. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 6.3



 

Note: These minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting. 

3. DETERMINATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
PL/03083 - Conversion of former school building into residential dwelling 
and the erection of 20 affordable dwellings on former school grounds, 
including all associated works at Former Coedmor School, Cwmann, 
Lampeter, SA48 8ET 
  
The Senior Enforcement and Monitoring Officer referred to the private site visit 
undertaken by the Committee earlier that day (minute 3.3 of the Planning 
Committee held on the 14th September, 2023 refers), the purpose of which was 
to enable the Committee to view the site in light of concerns raised on the 
potential over-bearance of the development on nearby residential properties. He 
referred, with the aid of PowerPoint slides, to the written report of the Head of 
Place and Sustainability which provided an appraisal of the site together with a 
description of the proposed development, a summary of consultation responses 
received and information relating to the local and national policies relevant to the 
assessment of the application.  
  
The Committee was advised that a call in request had been received by Welsh 
Government and that an Article 18 Direction had been issued so the Head of 
Place and Sustainability was recommending a resolution to approve for the 
reasons detailed within the written report. 
  
A representation was received objecting to the application re-iterating the points 
detailed within the Head of Place and Sustainability’s report and included: 
  

         Welsh Government Policy allowed for the provision of affordable housing 
as a ‘small’ extension to limits. The current application for 20 such homes 
was not considered to be small and could be classed as major 
development. 

         Concern was raised on the development’s potential impact on the Welsh 
Language, lack of space in the local school, no shops or pubs in the 
village resulting in residents having to travel by car to other areas, lack of 
public transport. 

         The proposed development did not comply with Welsh Government 
Policies and did not give consideration to the placemaking principles in the 
Future Wales National Plan 2040 policy. 

         There was more demand for affordable housing in Llanybydder.  
         Concern was raised on the stability of the ground to be built upon and the 

potential increase of flooding risk.  
  
A representation was received from the Local Member objecting to the 
application re-iterating the points raised by the objector (as above) and detailed 
within the Head of Place and Sustainability’s report and included: 
  

         Concern regarding the lack of transport links and the lack of local 
amenities.  

         Concerns that the affordable housing would not be allocated to local 
residents.  

         The proposed planting of trees for privacy would take years to establish. 

Page 70



 

Note: These minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting. 

         Impact on the watercourses on site would result in flooding.  
  
The applicant’s agent and Senior Enforcement and Monitoring Officer responded 
to the issues raised. 
  
RESOLVED that the planning application be granted subject to the conditions 
detailed within the Report/Addendum of the Head of Place and Sustainability 
and or reported at the meeting, the signing of the Section 106 Agreement and 
the withdrawal of the Article 18 Notice. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CHAIR       DATE 
 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 DETERMINATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS
	4 APPEALS REPORT
	5 PLANNING SERVICE PERFORMANCE - QUARTER 2
	Report

	6.1 26TH SEPTEMBER 2023
	6.2 12TH OCTOBER 2023
	6.3 24TH OCTOBER 2023

